

# RESEARCH SHOWCASE

Last updated June 2025

## **Abstract**

Bibliography of practice-based research within and across the mental health and alcohol and other drug sectors by members & Stakeholders of the Network of Alcohol and Other Drugs Agencies (NADA) and the Mental Health Coordinating Council (MHCC) from the last 5 years.







## Contents

ABOUT CMHDARN	2
ABOUT MHCC	2
ABOUT NADA	2
INTRODUCTION: WHY SHOWCASE RESEARCH?	3
SUBMISSIONS	4
RESEARCH BIBLIOGRAPHY	5
Co-existing Mental Health and Alcohol and Other Drugs	5
Alcohol and Other Drugs	5
Mental Health	8
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander	11
Housing & Homelessness	12
Domestic and Family Violence	12
LGBTIQ+	12
Peer research	13
Rural and Remote Communities	13
Young people	14

## **About CMHDARN**

The Community Mental Health Drug and Alcohol Research Network (CMHDARN) is a partnership project between Mental Health Coordinating Council (MHCC), the Network of Alcohol and other Drugs Agencies (NADA) and the Mental Health Commission of NSW.

CMHDARN was established in 2010 to broaden involvement of the community mental health and alcohol and other drugs sector in practice-based research and to promote the value of research and the use of research evidence in practice.

Its overall aim is to:

- improve the quality of service delivery and correspondingly, the outcomes for consumers of community-managed services, and
- promote increased understanding and awareness of co-existing mental health and alcohol and other drugs issues.

CMHDARN aims to facilitate the development of a culture of research by providing opportunities and context for the exchange of ideas, the sharing of resources, support and collaboration among community organisations and between community organisations and research bodies, including universities and research institutes. Communities of practice help foster continuous learning, shape critical thinking and enable innovative practices and approaches.

In order to build the research capacity of the mental health and alcohol and other drugs sectors, the Research Network shares information and engages with members via its website, workshops, forums, reflective practice webinars/webcasts and other activities.

## **About MHCC**

The Mental Health Coordinating Council (MHCC) is the peak body for community managed mental health organisations in New South Wales.

Find out more about the Mental Health Coordinating Council at www.mhcc.org.au

## **About NADA**

The Network of Alcohol and Drug Agencies (NADA) is the peak organisation for the non-government alcohol & other drugs sector in NSW.

Find out more about the Network of Alcohol and other Drugs Agencies at <a href="https://www.nada.org.au">www.nada.org.au</a>

## Introduction: Why Showcase Research?

Research in its broadest sense is a contribution to knowledge. The purpose of this bibliography is to showcase the significant contributions to knowledge being made within and across our sectors by members of the Network of Alcohol and Other Drugs Agencies (NADA) and the Mental Health Coordinating Council (MHCC).

In community settings, and perhaps particularly where co-existing mental health and alcohol and other drug issues are core business, research is often regarded as a luxury that time poor, resource constrained organisations can ill afford. We need to draw into question the logic of this reticence. The sustainability and longevity of the community sector depend on innovation, knowledge creation and sharing.

Research in mental health and alcohol and other drugs has the potential to improve services, practices, and people's lives. What little we know about the nexus between mental health and alcohol and other drugs is in need of our attention. What we learn from research should be translated into better practices that are shared across projects, programs and between the mental health and alcohol and other drugs sectors, so that communities of practice emerge and the potential of all new knowledge is maximised.

Building research capacity involves showcasing research engagement and successes. This document aims to share research developed by, and with, the mental health and alcohol and other drugs NGO sectors.

Research Showcase provides a bibliography of largely peer-reviewed research published by MHCC and NADA member organisations and CMHDARN members covering a range of areas of practice. The bibliography is organised into the following thematic areas, although there is often considerable overlap between these areas:

- Co-existing needs
- Alcohol and other drugs
- Mental health
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
- Housing & Homelessness
- Domestic and Family Violence
- LGBTIQ+
- Rural and remote communities
- Young people

## **Submissions**

To have your research included in this resource, please contact:

**CMHDARN Research Network Coordinator** 

PO Box 668

Rozelle NSW 2039 Tel: 02 9060 9641

Email: info@cmhdaresearchnetwork.com.au

Web: <u>cmhdaresearchnetwork.com.au</u>

If you wish to submit a publication for inclusion, please provide information using the following style:

#### **Book entry**

Ward, R., The Australian Legend, Oxford University Press, Melbourne, 1966. Link to source (you must provide a link for your research to be included).

#### Journal entry

Kozulin, A., 'Literature as a Psychological Tool', *Educational Psychologist*, vol. 28, no. 3, 1993, pp. 253-265.

<u>Link to source</u> (you must provide a link for your research to be included)

## **Research Bibliography**

#### Co-existing Mental Health and Alcohol and Other Drugs

Carroll A, Bayes A, Montebello M, et al. Drug dependence and prescribing ketamine for treatment-resistant depression in Australia and New Zealand. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2024;58(10):831-838. doi:10.1177/00048674241242315

Deans, E., Yuen, W.S., Economidis, G., Shakeshaft, A. and Farnbach, S., 2025. A mixed methods evaluation of an alcohol and other drug psychoeducation program for clients with complex support needs. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 111, p.102578. ISSN 0149-7189. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2025.102578

Faraguna, A. (2023). Supporting family video visits during COVID-19: the experiences of the Community Restorative Centre. *Current Issues in Criminal Justice*, 35(4), 440–446. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10345329.2023.2203284">https://doi.org/10.1080/10345329.2023.2203284</a>

McFadden, D., Prior, K., Miles, H., Hemraj, S. & Barrett, E.L. (2021). 'Genesis of change: Substance use treatment for forensic patients with mental health concerns'. *Drug and Alcohol Review* <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13344">https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13344</a>

Southey, M.M., Rees, T., Rolfe, M. & Pit, S. (2019). 'An evaluation of the maintenance to abstinence (MTA) program in achieving abstinence in opioid users and improving mental health and quality of life'. Addiction Science & Clinical Practice, vol. 14, no. 4, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-019-0132-x

### **Alcohol and Other Drugs**

Beck AK, Larance B, Deane FP, Baker AL, Manning V, Hides L, Shakeshaft A, Argent A, Kelly PJ (2021). The use of Australian SMART Recovery groups by people who use methamphetamine: Analysis of routinely-collected nationwide data. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 1;225:108814. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108814.

Beck, A. K., Larance, B., Manning, V., Deane, F. P., Baker, A. L., Hides, L., Shakeshaft, A., Argent, A., & Kelly, P. J. (2025). Exploring the potential of Self-Management and Recovery Training (SMART Recovery) mutual-help groups for supporting people who use methamphetamine: A qualitative study examining participant experience of initiation and engagement. *Journal of Substance Use and Addiction Treatment*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.josat.2024.209570">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.josat.2024.209570</a>

Brener, L., Caruana, T., Cama, E., Gilford, C., Crawford, S., Capell-Hattam, T., & von Hippel, C. (2024). Stigma by association among alcohol and other drug and harm reduction workers: Implications for workplace outcomes. *Drug and Alcohol Review* (Advance online publication). https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13861

Chapman, J., Roche, A. M., Kostadinov, V., Duraisingam, V. & Hodge, S. (2019). 'Lived Experience: Characteristics of Workers in Alcohol and Other Drug Nongoverment Organisations', *Contemporary Drug Problems*, DOI: 10.1177/0091450919894341

Chapman, J., Roche, A. M., Duraisingam, V., Phillips, B., Finnane, J., & Pidd, K. (2021) Working at heights: patterns and predictors of illicit drug use in construction workers, Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 28:1, 67-75, DOI: 10.1080/09687637.2020.1743645

Davis, E.L., Kelly, P.J., Deane, F.P., Baker, A.L, Buckingham, M., Degan, T.; Adams, S. (2019) The relationship between patient-centered care and outcomes in specialist drug and alcohol treatment: A systematic literature review. Substance abuse, 41(1):1-16

Davis, E.L., Ingram, I., Deane, F.P., Buckingham, M., Breeze, D., Degan, T., & Kelly, P.J. (2022). A Qualitative study exploring the benefits and challenges of implementing client centred care (CCC) in an alcohol and other drug treatment service. Journal of Dual Diagnosis, 19(1), 49-59.

Deans, E., Economidis, G., Gates, P., Zocco, A., Stirling, R., Nathan, S., Hudson, S. and Farnbach, S., (2025). A scoping review of program evaluations in non-profit alcohol and other drugs service settings: Considerations for service and research partnerships. Evaluation and Program Planning, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2025.102614

Duraisingam, V., Roche, A., Kostadiov, V., Hodge, S. & Chapman, J. (2020). 'Predictors of work engagement among Australia non-government drug and alcohol employees: Implications for policy and practice', *International Journal of Drug Policy* 

Esther L. Davis, Isabella Ingram, Frank P. Deane, Mark Buckingham, Danielle Breeze, Tayla Degan & Peter J. Kelly (2022): A Qualitative Study Exploring the Benefits and Challenges of Implementing Client Centred Care (CCC) in an Alcohol and Other Drug Treatment Service, Journal of Dual Diagnosis, <u>DOI:</u> 10.1080/15504263.2022.2159603

Guillaumier et. al. (2020). 'Effect of increasing the delivery of smoking cessation care in alcohol and other drug treatment centres: a cluster-randomized controlled trial', Addiction Research Report, doi: 10.1111/add.14911

Grey R. M., Kelly, P., Beck, A. K., Baker, A. L., Deane, F. P., Neale, Treloar, C., Hides, L., Manning, Shakeshaft, A., Kelly, P., Argent, A., McGlaughlin, R. (2020). A qualitative exploration of SMART Recovery Meetings in Australia and the role of a Digital Platform to Support Routine Outcome Monitoring, Addictive Behaviours. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106144">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106144</a>

Hill, B., Williams, M., Woolfenden, S., Martin, B., Palmer, K., & Nathan, S. (2022) Healing journeys: experiences of young Aboriginal people in an urban Australian therapeutic community drug and alcohol program, Health Sociology Review, 31:2,193-212, DOI: 10.1080/14461242.2022.2091948

Kelly, P. J., Baker, A. L., Deane, F. P., Hides, L., Manning, V., Shakeshaft, A., Larance, B., Neale, J., Kelly, J., Oldmeadow, C., Searles, A., Treloar, C., Gray, R. M., Argent, A. & McGlaughlin, R. (2020) Feasibility of a Mobile Health App for Routine Outcome Monitoring and Feedback in Mutual Support Groups Coordinated by SMART Recovery Australia: Protocol for a Pilot Study, *JMIR Research Protocols*, 9 (7):e15113 URL: <a href="https://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/7/e15113">https://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/7/e15113</a> DOI: 10.2196/15113

Kelly, P.J., Deane, F.P., Davis, E.L., Hudson, S., Robinson, L.D., Keane, C., Hatton, E. & Larance, B. (2020) Routine outcome measurement in specialist non-government alcohol and other drug treatment services: Establishing effectiveness indicators for the NADA base. Drug and Alcohol Review. DOI: 10.1111/dar.13191

Kelly PJ, Beck AK, Deane FP, Larance B, Baker AL, Hides L, Manning V, Shakeshaft A, Neale J, Kelly JF, Oldmeadow C, Searles A, Palazzi K, Lawson K, Treloar C, Gray RM, Argent A, McGlaughlin R. Feasibility of a Mobile Health App for Routine Outcome Monitoring and Feedback in SMART Recovery Mutual Support Groups: Stage 1 Mixed Methods Pilot Study. J Med Internet Res. 2021 Oct 6;23(10):e25217. doi: 10.2196/25217. PMID: 34612829; PMCID: PMC8529481.

Kelly PJ, McCreanor K, Beck AK, Ingram I, O'Brien D, King A, McGlaughlin R, Argent A, Ruth M, Hansen BS, Andersen D, Manning V, Shakeshaft A, Hides L, Larance B. (2021) SMART Recovery International and COVID-

19: Expanding the reach of mutual support through online groups. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108568. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34446323.

Kostadinov, V., Roche, A. M., McEntee, A., Duraisingam, V., Hodge, S., & Chapman, J. (2020). Strengths, challenges, and future directions for the non-government alcohol and other drugs workforce. *Journal of Substance Use*, pp. 1-7

MacLean, S. J., Caluzzi, G., Ferry, M., Bruun, A., Skattebol, J., Neale, J., & Bryant, J. (2022). Why we stopped using the term 'aftercare'. Drug and Alcohol Review, 41(1), 3-6. doi:10.1111/dar.13332

McDonald, D. & Stirling, R. (2019). 'Evaluating the capacity building roles of the state and territory peak bodies in the Australian alcohol and other drug sector', Evaluation Journal of Australasia, vol. 19 (1)

McEntee, A., Roche, A. M., Kostadinov, V., Hodge, S. & Chapman, J. (2020) Predictors of turnover intention in the non-government alcohol and other drug sector, *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, DOI: 10.1080/09687637.2020.1759508

Raftery, D., Kelly, P., Deane, F. P., Baker, A. L., Dingle & Hunt, D. (2020). With a little help from my friends: Cognitive behavioural skill utilization, social networks, and psychological distress in SMART Recovery group attendees, *Journal of Substance Use*, vol. 25, no. 1. https://doi.org/10.1080/14659891.2019.1664654

Roche, A., McEntee, A., Kostadinov, V., Hodge, S. & Chapman, J. (2021). Older workers in the alcohol and other drug sector: Predictors of workforce retention. *Australas J Ageing*, vol. 00, pp.1-9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/ajag.12917">https://doi.org/10.1111/ajag.12917</a>

Rushton, C. M., Kelly, P. J., Thomas, T., Beck, A. K., Townsend, C., Baker, A. L., ... & Larance, B. (2024). SMART Family and Friends: Feasibility and outcomes of a video-conference delivered intervention for families impacted by another's methamphetamine use. Journal of Substance Use and Addiction Treatment, 209355. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.josat.2024.209355">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.josat.2024.209355</a>

Siefried, K.J., Ezard, N., Christmass, M., Haber, P., Ali, R. and The NCCRED Methamphetamine and Emerging Drugs Clinical Research Network Working Group, (2021), A clinical research priority setting study for issues related to the use of methamphetamine and emerging drugs of concern in Australia. Drug Alcohol Rev.. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13350">https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13350</a>

Sotiri, M., McCausland, R., Reeve, R., Phelan, L., & Byrnes, T. (2021) They're there to support you and help you, they're not there to judge you": Breaking the cycle of incarceration, drug use and release Evaluation of the Community Restorative Centre's AOD and reintegration programs. Access here

Stirling R, Hudson S, Ross J, Deans E, Tibbetts J, Day C, et al. Understanding the research capacity of alcohol and other drugs services in New South Wales, Australia. *Drug Alcohol Rev*. 2024; 43(1): 265–277. https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13776

Stirling, R., Ritter, A., Rawstorne, P. & Nathan, S. (2020). Contracting treatment services in Australia: Do measures adhere to best practice? *International Journal of Drug Policy*, vol. 86, doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102947

Stirling, R, Nathan, S, Ritter, A. Prioritizing measures to assess performance of drug treatment services: a Delphi process with funders, treatment providers and service-users. Addiction. 2022. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/add.16038">https://doi.org/10.1111/add.16038</a>

Talia Nardo, Jamie Berry, Daniel Barker, Hassan Assareh, Jo Lunn, Antoinette Sedwell, Jennifer Batchelor, Ant hony Shakeshaft, Peter J. Kelly, Pooria Sarrami, Skye Russell & Megan James (2024) Cognitive remediation in residential substance use treatment: A randomized stepped-wedge trial, Neuropsychological Rehabilitation, DOI: 10.1080/09602011.2024.2314879

Uthurralt N, Miao Cao F, Reid SE, Nithyanandam L, Burns L, Day CA. Characteristics of clients entering women-only substance use treatment services in New South Wales. Women's Health. 2023;19. doi:10.1177/17455057231200133

#### **Mental Health**

Aadam, B. & Petrakis, M. (2019) Ethics, Values, and Recovery in Mental Health Social Work Practice. In: Ow R., Cheong Poon A. (eds) Mental Health and Social Work. Social Work. Springer, Singapore

Biggs LJ, Jephcott B, Vanderwiel K, et al. Pathways, Contexts, and Voices of Shame and Compassion: A Grounded Theory of the Evolution of Perinatal Suicidality. Qualitative Health Research. 2023;33(6):521-530. doi:10.1177/10497323231164278

Blakemore, T., & Stuart, G. (2020). Best Practice and Trends in Counselling and Mediation Services in NSW: A Collaborative Case Study of Uniting. Summary and Synthesis Report. Uniting.

Brackertz, N., Borrowman, L., Roggenbuck, C. Pollock, S. and Davis, E. (2020) Trajectories: the interplay between mental health and housing pathways. Final research report, Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited and Mind Australia, Melbourne, https://www.ahuri.edu.au/research/trajectories.

Brasier C, Brophy L, Harvey C. Constructing recovery: A Lived Experience and post-structuralist exploration of how the meaning of personal recovery and rehabilitation has changed over time. Australasian Psychiatry. 2023;31(5):607-609. doi:10.1177/10398562231194193

Chen A, Rosenbaum S, Wells R, Gould K, Ward PB, Steel Z. Obesity, physical activity and sleep quality in patients admitted to a posttraumatic stress inpatient ward. Australasian Psychiatry. 2020;28(3):270-273. doi:10.1177/1039856220917075

Clinton-McHarg, T., Gibson, L., Bartlem, K., Murray, S., Ryall, J., Orr, M., Ford, J., & Bowman, J. (2022). Barriers to the Provision of Preventive Care to People Living with Mental Health Conditions: Self-Report by Staff Working in an Australian Community Managed Organisation. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. Vol. 19, 4458. DOI: 10.3390/ijerph19084458

Davies, G., P. Deane, F., Williams, V., & Giles, C. (2022). Barriers, facilitators and interventions to support help-seeking amongst young people living in families impacted by parental mental illness: A systematized review. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 16(5), 469–480. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.13194">https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.13194</a>

Dunt, D. R., Day, S. E., Collister, L., Fogerty, B., Frankish, R., Castle, D. J., Hoppner, C., Stafrace, S., Sherwood, S., Newton, J. R., & Redston, S. (2022). Evaluation of a Housing First programme for people from the public mental health sector with severe and persistent mental illnesses and precarious housing: Housing, health and service use outcomes. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 56(3), 281–291. https://doi.org/10.1177/00048674211011702

Ending Loneliness Together (2022). Strengthening Social Connection to Accelerate Social Recovery: A White Paper. <a href="https://endingloneliness.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/ELT\_Whitepaper\_July2022-1.pdf">https://endingloneliness.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/ELT\_Whitepaper\_July2022-1.pdf</a>

Ennals, P, Muchamore, I, Langam, V, Hall, C, Wolstencroft, K. Active8: Promoting health beyond the absence of mental illness. Aust J Rural Health. 2020; 28: 215–217. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajr.12576

Forell, S. and O'Connor, S. (2024) 'Legal Needs Arising in Mental Health Settings and Staff Capability and Support to Respond', <i>International Journal of Integrated Care</i>, 24(1), p. 19. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5334/ijic.7693.

Gendera S, Blaxland M, O'Shea P, Fisher KR. 2025. Bondi Prevention and Recovery Centre (PARC) Model Evaluation. Sydney: UNSW Social Policy Research Centre. DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/30933

Gibson, L., Bartlem, K., Clinton-McHarg, T. et al. The Provision of Preventive Care for Chronic Disease Risk Behaviours to People with a Mental Health Condition: A Survey of Staff from One Australian Community Managed Organisation. J. Psychosoc. Rehabil. Ment. Health 8, 191–198 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40737-021-00215-x

Gibson, L.; Clinton-McHarg, T.; Wilczynska, M.; Latter, J.; Bartlem, K.; Henderson, C.; Wiggers, J.; Wilson, A.; Searles, A.; Bowman, J. Preventive care practices to address health behaviours among people living with mental health conditions: A survey of Community Managed Organisations. Prev. Med. Rep. 2021, 23, 101495.

Giugni, M., Morse, A. R., Fitzpatrick, S. J., Lamb, H., Gulliver, A., Calear, A. L., Bliokas, V., Shand, F., Chakouch, C., Edwards, B., Ellis, L. A., Goj, P., Lee, M., Main, M., Miller, B., Webb, G., Sargent, G., Skeat, H., Stewart, K., Wells, K., McKay, C., Stride Safe Space Team, Stewart, E., & Banfield, M. (2025). Reinventing the evaluation wheel: COGwheel's co-designed digital innovation using the Qualtrics heat map. *MethodsX*, 14, 103147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2024.103147

Harvey, C., Zirnsak, T.-M., Brasier, C., Ennals, P., Fletcher, J., Hamilton, B., Killaspy, H., McKenzie, P., Kennedy, H. and Brophy, L., 2023. Community-based models of care facilitating the recovery of people living with persistent and complex mental health needs: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 14, p.1259944.

Hayes, L., McDonald, M., Hudson, L., May, F. (2021) Legally Minded: Understanding how legal intervention can improve the lives of people with mental ill-health, final research report, Mind Australia, Melbourne.

Ho J, Wells K, Jacek S, Francis-Taylor R, Halliday G. Clinician by day, filmmaker by night: The development of a consumer inspired educational electroconvulsive therapy video. Australasian Psychiatry. 2023;31(3):353-355. doi:10.1177/10398562231158920

Jackson, F. (2021). Overcoming the tyranny of low expectation, diagnosis and victimhood. Brazilian Journal of Mental Health, Vol. 13, 149-155

Jackson, F., Fong, T., Jones, K. & Orr, M. (2021). The lived experience workforce: The importance of respectfully embedding lived experience at all levels of service design and production. Brazilian Journal of Mental Health, Vol. 13 (36), 82-96

Josifovski N, Shand F, Morley K, Chia J, Henshaw R, Petrie K, Reda B, Li E, Theobald A, Onie S, Torok M, Berrouiguet S, Batterham PJ, Carter G, Haber P, Christensen H, Larsen ME. A pilot study of a text message and online brief contact intervention following self-harm or a suicide attempt: A mixed methods evaluation. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2022 May-Jun;76:1-2. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2022.03.002. Epub 2022 Mar 11. PMID: 35303519.

Ma, J. S., Batterham, P. J., Kõlves, K., Woodward, A., Bradford, S., Klein, B., Titov, N., Mazzer, K., O'Riordan, M., Rickwood, D. J. (2021). 'Community expectations and anticipated outcomes for crisis support services-

Lifeline Australia'. Health Soc Care Community. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13557. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 34459526.

Maple, M., Wayland, S., Pearce, T., Sanford, R., & Bhullar, N. (2022). A Psychoeducational Support Group Intervention for People Who Have Attempted Suicide: An Open Trial with Promising Preliminary Findings. Community Mental Health Journal. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-022-00978-y

McGill K, Whyte IM, Sawyer L, Adams D, Delamothe K, Lewin TJ, Robinson J, Kay-Lambkin FJ, Carter GL. Effectiveness of the Hunter Way Back Support Service: An historical controlled trial of a brief non-clinical after-care program for hospital-treated deliberate self-poisoning. Suicide Life Threat Behav. 2022 Feb 5. doi: 10.1111/sltb.12840. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 35122297.

Katarzyna Olcon, Rachel Tambyah, Julaine Allan et al. Mental Health Clinicians' Perceptions of Nature-Based Interventions Within Community Mental Health Services: Evidence from Australia, 20 April 2022, PREPRINT (Version 1) available at Research Square [https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1564314/v1]

Ong, B., Barnes, S., & Buus, N. (2021). Developing multiple perspectives by eliding agreement: A conversation analysis of Open Dialogue reflections. Discourse Studies, 24(1), 47-64. https://doi.org/10.1177/14614456211037439 (Original work published 2022)

Onie S, Li X, Glastonbury K, et al. Understanding and detecting behaviours prior to a suicide attempt: A mixed-methods study. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2023;57(7):1016-1022. doi:10.1177/00048674231152159

O'Riordan, M., Ma, J.S., Mazzer, K., Batterham, P., Kõlves, K., Woodward, A., Klein, B., Larsen, M., Goecke, R., Gould, M., & Rickwood, D. (2022). Help-seeker expectations and outcomes of a crisis support service: Comparison of suicide-related and non-suicide-related contacts to Lifeline Australia. Health & Social Care in the Community. Available <a href="https://example.com/here/here/">here</a>.

Patmisari E, Huang Y, Orr M, Govindasamy S, Hielscher E, McLaren H (2024) Supported employment interventions with people who have severe mental illness: Systematic mixed- methods umbrella review. PLoS ONE 19(6): e0304527. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0304527

Regan, C., Dray, J., Fehily, C., Campbell, E., Bartlem, K., Orr, M., Govindasamy, S. & Bowman, J. (2023). Codevelopment of implementation strategies to assist staff of a mental health community managed organisation provide preventive care for health behaviours. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*. DOI: 10.002/hpja.813

Scanlan, J.N., Still, M., Radican, J., Henkel, D., Heffernan, T., Farrugia, P., Isbester, J. & English, J. (2020). Workplace experiences of mental health consumer peer workers in New South Wales, Australia: a survey study exploring job satisfaction, burnout and turnover intention. BMC Psychiatry, Vol 20, 270. DOI: 10.1186/s12888-020-02688-9

Swinson, S., Jones, K., Gourlay, S., Wilkinson, M. & Jackson F. (2021). Empowerment, recovery & social citizenship: A valuable Australian experience. Brazilian Journal of Mental Health, Vol. 13 (36), 63-81

von Hippel C, Brener L, Rose G. Lived Experience as a Protective Factor for Mental Health Workers. Psychiatr Serv. 2022 Mar 16:appips202100468. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.202100468. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 35291818.

Walters, C., Lawn, S., Maghidman, M., Solich, H., McDonald, E., Stevenson, T., Sheers, C., Simic, N., Harms, J., Petrakis, M., & Goodyear, M. (2025). Mental Health Family Carer Coresearchers: Coproduction Principles to Elevate Lived-Expertise in Research. Research on Social Work Practice, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/10497315251316833

Wand APF, Jessop T, Peisah C. Educating Crisis Supporters About Self-Harm and Suicide in Older Adults. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2022 Nov;30(11):1212-1220. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2021.10.006. Epub 2021 Oct 21. PMID: 34799248.

#### **Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander**

Conigrave, J. H., Harrison, K. H., Lee, K. S. K., Dobbins, T. A., Hummerston, B., Hayman, N., Perry, J., Ivers, R., Haber, P. S., Wilson, S., Johnson, D., and Conigrave, K. M. (2021) Support can increase use of the AUDIT-C in Australian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services: a cluster randomized trial. *Addiction*, 116: 2304–2315. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15428">https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15428</a>.

Dale, E., Kelly, P. J., Lee, K. S., Conigrave, J. H., Ivers, R. & Clapham, K. (2019). Systematic review of addiction recovery mutual support groups and Indigenous people of Australia, New Zealand, Canada, the United States of America and Hawaii. *Addictive Behaviors*, vol. 98

Dale, E., Lee, K.S.K., Conigrave, K.M., Conigrave, J.H., Ivers, R., Clapham, K. and Kelly, P.J. (2021), A multi-methods yarn about SMART Recovery: First insights from Australian Aboriginal facilitators and group members. Drug Alcohol Rev., 40: 1013-1027. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13264">https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13264</a>

Dudgeon, P., Bray, A., Smallwood, G., Walker, R. & Dalton, T. (2020) Wellbeing and Healing Through Connection and Culture. Lifeline Australia. doi:10.6084/m9.figshare.14036774

Farnbach, S., Allan, J., Wallace, R., Aiken, A. & Shakeshaft, A. (2021). Formative process evaluation of a guideline-driven process for improving the cultural responsiveness of alcohol and drug treatment services. *BMC Health Serv Res* **21**, 352. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06367-7">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06367-7</a>

Farnbach, S.; Henderson, A.; Allan, J.; Wallace, R.; Shakeshaft, A. A Cluster-Randomised Stepped-Wedge Impact Evaluation of a Pragmatic Implementation Process for Improving the Cultural Responsiveness of Non-Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drug Treatment Services: A Pilot Study. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2023, 20, 4223. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20054223

Farnbach, S., Fernando, J., Coyte, J., Simms, M., Hackett, M. (2023). "I tried to get help about my addiction but he just gave me tablets:" male Aboriginal drug and alcohol rehabilitation clients' experiences and preferences speaking about substance use in primary care. BMC Primary Care, 24, 25. Retrieved from: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-929770/v2

Henderson A, Shakeshaft A, Allan J, Wallace R, Barker D, Farnbach S. A pilot study examining the impact of a pragmatic process for improving the cultural responsiveness of non-Aboriginal alcohol and other drug treatment services using routinely collected data in Australia. Journal of Health Services Research & Policy. 2024;30(1):4-11. doi:10.1177/13558196241261800

Kelly, P.J., Coyte, J., Robinson, L.D., Deane, F.P., Russell, S., Clapham, K., Dale, E., Longbottom, M., Solley, R., Baker, A.L. (2022). Evaluating an Aboriginal community controlled residential alcohol and other drug services: use of benchmarking to examine within treatment changes in wellbeing. Drug and Alcohol Review, 41(4), 953-962. 10.1111/dar.13432

Lawrence (Wiradjuri), J., Lock (Ngiyampaa), M., Kleinschafer, J., Naden (Wiradjuri and Gamilaraay), P., Gibbs (Gamilaraay), C., Gordon (Ngemba and Barranbinja), J., & Burmeister, O. K. (2022). Yindyamarra: Value Co-creation with Aboriginal Australians. International Journal of Market Research, 65(2-3), 191-214. https://doi.org/10.1177/14707853221139700 (Original work published 2023)

Mersha, A.G., Maddox, R., Maidment, S., Booth, K., Briscoe, K., Hussein, P., Longbottom, H., Bar-Zeev, Y., Kennedy, M. (2022). It needs a full-time dedicated person to do this job in our local communities with our

Aboriginal Health Services' - Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Workers and Practitioners perspectives on supporting smoking cessation during pregnancy. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 20(1). Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20010028

Nathan, S., Maru, K., Williams, M., Palmer, K. & Rawstorne, P. (2020). 'Koori voices: self-harm, suicide attempts, arrests and substance use among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander adolescents following residential treatment'. *Health Justice* **8**, 4 (2020). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-020-0105-x">https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-020-0105-x</a>

Noble N, Bryant J, Maher L, Jackman D, Bonevski B, Shakeshaft A, Paul C. (2021). Patient self-report versus medical records for smoking status and alcohol consumption at Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services. *Aust N Z J Public Health*. 45(3):277-282. doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.13114. Epub 2021 May 10. PMID: 33970509.

Reilly, R., Wand, H., McKetin, R., Quinn, B., Ezard, N., Dunlop, A., Conigrave, K., Treloar, C., Roe, Y., Gray, D., Stephens, J., Ward, J. and (2020), Survey methods and characteristics of a sample of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and non-Indigenous people who have recently used methamphetamine: the NIMAC survey. Drug Alcohol Rev., 39: 646-655. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13085">https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13085</a>

#### **Housing & Homelessness**

Dunt DR, Day SE, Collister L, et al. Evaluation of a Housing First programme for people from the public mental health sector with severe and persistent mental illnesses and precarious housing: Housing, health and service use outcomes. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2021;56(3):281-291. doi:10.1177/00048674211011702

Kalemba, J., Greenland, N., Terry, F., Maher, J. Christie, R. (2022). Older Women's Pathways out of Homelessness. Mission Australia: Sydney, NSW.

Low GK, Li J, Hielscher E, Sheanoda V, Govindasamy S, Marasha F. Demographic and mental health characteristics of individuals in the NSW Housing and Accommodation Support Initiative (HASI), Community Living Supports and HASI Plus. Australasian Psychiatry. 2025;0(0). doi:10.1177/10398562251316431

Phelan, L., Belackova, V., Parker, K., Brady, R., Quail, S., Bertram, S., Westermann, G., Rice-Brading, M., Yorkston, E., Kovac, H., Amatto, J., Coates, B., Jordan, S. and Walke, E., 2024. Evaluation of the Reintegration Housing Support Program. *Community Restorative Centre*.

#### **Domestic and Family Violence**

Russell, S., Phelan, L. and Frazer, W., 2024. From Harm to Healing: The Role of The Miranda Project in Supporting Women at the Intersection of Violence and Criminalisation. *Community Restorative Centre*.

#### LGBTIQ+

Broady, T., Chan, C., MacGibbon, J., Bavinton, B., Smith, A.K.J., Mao, L., Molyneux A., Watson, L., Gordon, T., Heslop, A., & Holt, M. (2023). Gay Community Periodic Survey: Sydney 2023. Sydney: Centre for Social Research in Health, UNSW Sydney. http://doi.org/10.26190/g48d-zh77

Chan, C., Broady, T., Bavinton, B., Mao, L., Molyneux, A., Delhomme, F., Power, C., Clackett, S., Heslop, A., Prestage, G., & Holt, M. (2022). Gay Community Periodic Survey: Sydney 2022. Sydney: Centre for Social Research in Health, UNSW Sydney. <a href="http://doi.org/10.26190/5pm2-rg76">http://doi.org/10.26190/5pm2-rg76</a>

Fileborn, B., Barnes, A., Dwyer, A., Parker, J., Bjaalid, E., Layard, E., Asquith, N., Mason, R., & Cook, T. (2024). LGBTQ+ people's experiences of disclosing sexual violence to their supports - Findings from a NSW-based survey (Version 1). University of Tasmania. https://hdl.handle.net/102.100.100/660622

Layard, E, Parker, J, Cook, T, Murray, J, Asquith, N, Fileborn, B, Mason, R, Barnes, A, Dwyer, A, Mortimer, S, 2022, 'LGBTQ+ peoples experiences and perceptions of sexual violence', ACON research summary report. Access here: <a href="https://www.acon.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/22178">https://www.acon.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/22178</a> Sexual-Violence-Report v 6.pdf

Lea, T., Brener, L., Whitlam, G., Gray, R., Lambert, S., & Holt, M. (2020). Evaluation of ACON's Substance Support Service. Sydney: UNSW Centre for Social Research in Health and ACON <a href="http://doi.org/10.26190/5e4b55b5bd827">http://doi.org/10.26190/5e4b55b5bd827</a>.

Lim, G., Waling, A., Lyons, A., Pepping, C. A., Brooks, A., & Bourne, A. (2022). The experiences of lesbian, gay and bisexual people accessing mental health crisis support helplines in Australia. *Psychology & Sexuality*, 13(5), 1150–1167. https://doi.org/10.1080/19419899.2021.1904274

Lim G, Waling A, Lyons A, Pepping CA, Brooks A, Bourne A. Trans and Gender-Diverse peoples' experiences of crisis helpline services. Health Soc Care Community. 2021 May;29(3):672-684. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13333. Epub 2021 Mar 11. PMID: 33704863.

Positive Life NSW, The Gender Centre Inc, TGD Expert Advisory Group. (2020). 'Trans and Gender Diverse People Health and Social Needs Assessment: A Community Survey'. Positive Life NSW, Sydney, Australia

Rodgers, S., Shehata, S., Murray, J., and Cook, T. (2022). Informing the direction of ACON's online suicide prevention hub: a review [Report]. Gadigal, Sydney, Australia: ACON.

Sophia Elvira Schroeder, Anna Wilkinson, Daniel O'Keefe et al. Does sexuality matter? A cross-sectional study of drug use, social injecting, and access to injection-specific care among men who inject drugs in Melbourne, Australia, 01 December 2022, PREPRINT (Version 1) available at Research Square [https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2313337/v1]

#### Peer research

Walker et al. (2019). 'Involving peers in research: the UNSW Community Reference Panel', Harm Reduction Journal, vol. 16, no. 52

#### **Rural and Remote Communities**

De Cotta, T., Knox, J., Farmer, J., White, C., Davis, H. (2021). Community co-produced mental health initiatives in rural Australia: a scoping review. Australian Journal of Rural Health, 29(6), 865-878. 10.1111/ajr.12793

Jackson, J., Heffernan, T., Orr, M., Young, R.B., Puckett, C. & Daly, S. (2020). Peer work in rural and remote communities and mental health services. In Carey, T.A. & Gullifer, J. (Eds). (2020). Handbook of Rural, Remote, and Very Remote Mental Health Services. Springer. DOI: 10.1007/978-981-10-5012-1\_21-1

#### Young people

Bista, S., Nathan, S., Rawstorne, P., Palmer, K., Ferry, M., Williams, M. & Hayen, A. (2021) 'Mortality among young people seeking residential treatment for problematic drug and alcohol use: A data linkage study', Drug and Alcohol Dependence, vol. 228, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.109030

Bryant, J., Caluzzi, G., Bruun, A., Sundbery, J., Ferry, M., Gray, R. M., Skattebol J., MacLean, S. (2022). The problem of over-medicalisation: How AOD disease models perpetuate inequity for young people with multiple disadvantage. International Journal of Drug Policy, 103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2022.103631

Caluzzi, G., MacLean, S., Gray, R., Skattebol, J., Neale, J., Ferry, M., ... Bryant, J. (2024). Opportunities and limits: exploring young people's views of staff care in residential alcohol and other drug services. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2024.2392192

Caruana T, Mao L, Gray RM, Bryant J (2023) Engagement and outcomes of marginalised young people in an early intervention youth alcohol and other drug program: The Street Universities model. PLoS ONE 18(5): e0286025. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0286025

Davies, G., Deane, F. P., Williams, V., & Giles, C. (2022). Changes in help-seeking intentions among young people living in families impacted by mental illness attending Australian Kookaburra Kids Foundation camps. *Child & Family Social Work*, 27(4), 604-615.

Davies G, P Deane F, Williams V, Giles C. Barriers, facilitators and interventions to support help-seeking amongst young people living in families impacted by parental mental illness: A systematized review. Early Interv Psychiatry. 2022 May;16(5):469-480. doi: 10.1111/eip.13194. Epub 2021 Jul 12. PMID: 34254436.

Deans EG, Abdo J, Ravulo J, Conroy E. 'I had nothing...and drugs don't leave': A qualitative study exploring the drug use trajectories of young people who offend. Research Square; 2022. DOI: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-2032338/v1.

Deans, E., Ravulo, J., Blignault, I. & Conroy, E. (2020) 'Understanding the needs of local youth to inform drug and alcohol prevention and harm reduction services: A qualitative study'. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*. 2020:00:1-9. https://doi.org/10.1002/hpja.393

Deans, E, Ravulo, J, Conroy, E & Abdo, J 2022, 'A qualitative study exploring young offenders' perspectives on alcohol and other drug health promotion', BMC Public Health, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-12953-z

Deans, E., Ravulo, J., Conroy, E., Kelly, P. J., Grados Bonner, E. L., Lal, J., ... Whitton, G. (2024). Engaging and retaining clients in AOD treatment: young people's perspectives. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2024.2391922

Eapen V, Dadich A, Balachandran S, et al. E-mental health in child psychiatry during COVID-19: an initial attitudinal study. Australasian Psychiatry. 2021;29(5):498-503. doi:10.1177/10398562211022748

Ennals, P., Lessing, K., Spies, R., Egan, R., Hemus, P., Droppert, K., Tidhar, M., Wood, T., van Dijk, C., Bride, R., Asche, A., Bendall, S., & Simmons, M. (2021). Co-producing to understand what matters to young people living in youth residential rehabilitation services. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.13222

Francis-Taylor R, Lipscomb R, Sanatkar S, Healy M, Kefalas B. On-campus mental health services for Australian university students: A retrospective analysis of service utilisation. *Australasian Psychiatry*. 2023;31(4):540-544. doi:10.1177/10398562231169611

Kroes, S., Myers, K., McLoughlan, G., O'Connor, S., Keily, E. and Petrakis, M. (2023), "Coproduction in evaluating a dual diagnosis tool with youth in a residential mental health service", Advances in Dual Diagnosis, Vol. 16 No. 2, pp. 92-106. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ADD-06-2022-0017">https://doi.org/10.1108/ADD-06-2022-0017</a>

MacLean, S.J., Caluzzi, G., Ferry, M., Bruun, A., Sundbery, J., Skattebol, J., Neale, J. and Bryant, J., 2024. Young people returning to alcohol and other drug services as incremental treatment. *Social Science & Medicine*, 357, p.117181.

Marceau, E. M., Holmes, G., Cutts, J., Mullaney, L., Meuldijk, D., Townsend, M. L. & Grenyer, B. F. S. (2021). 'Now and then: a ten year comparison of young people in residential substance use disorder treatment receiving group dialectical behaviour therapy', *BMC Psychology*, vol 21, no. 362, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-021-03372-2

McHale, R., Brennan, N., Boon, B., Richardson, E., Rossetto, A. & Christie, R. (2024). Youth Survey Report 2024. Sydney, NSW: Mission Australia

Spies, R., Ennals, P., Egan, R., Hemus, P., Gonzales, R., Droppert, K., Tidhar, M., McMullan, S., Lessing, K., Wood, T., Bride, R., Bendall, S., & Simmons, M. (2021). Introducing the youth residential rehabilitation service: An operational and experiential overview of a psychosocial residential support option for young people experiencing mental health challenges. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 1–9. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.13217">https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.13217</a>

Teo, S. M., Gao, C. X., Brennan, N., Fava, N., Simmons, M. B., Baker, D., Zbukvic, I., Rickwood, D. J., Brown, E., Smith, C. L., Watson, A. E., Browne, V., Cotton, S., McGorry, P., Killackey, E., Freeburn, T., & Filia, K. M. (2024). Climate change concerns impact on young Australians' psychological distress and outlook for the future. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 93, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2023.102209

Torok M, Han J, McGillivray L, Wong Q, Werner-Seidler A, O'Dea B, et al. (2022) The effect of a therapeutic smartphone application on suicidal ideation in young adults: Findings from a randomized controlled trial in Australia. PLoS Med 19(5): e1003978. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003978

Wells M, Kelly PJ, Mullaney L, Lee ML, Stirling R, Etter S, et al. Predictors of alcohol and other drug treatment completion among young people accessing residential and community-based treatment: A retrospective analysis of routinely collected service data. *Addiction*. 2024. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.16602

Whitten, T., Cale, J., Nathan, S., Williams, M., Baldry, E., Ferry, M., & Hayen, A. (2023). Influence of a residential drug and alcohol program on young people's criminal conviction trajectories. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, vol. 84 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2022.102026

Whitten, T., Cale, J., Nathan, S., Bista, S., Ferry, M., Williams, M., Rawstorne, P. and Hayen, A., 2022. Hospitalisation following therapeutic community drug and alcohol treatment for young people with and without a history of criminal conviction. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 232, p.109280.

Williams, V., Deane, F. P., Giles, C., & Knight, L. (2022). Changes in stigmatising beliefs and help-seeking intentions following a recreational peer- based program for young people affected by military associated parental mental illness. Journal of Military and Veterans Health, 30(3), 56–63. <a href="https://search.informit.org/doi/10.3316/informit.616708415140221">https://search.informit.org/doi/10.3316/informit.616708415140221</a>

Williams, V., 2022. Connection breeds connection: Investigating the importance of connection within and by mental health in facilitating increased connectedness for young Australians living in families affected by mental ill-health. Australian Kookaburra Kids Foundation.